Mr. Michael Muszynski
128 Winchell Dr.
Kensington, CT. 06037-1833

January 17, 1997

U S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
ATTN: Document Control Desk
Washington, D.C. 20555

SUBJECT: REPLY TO A NOTICE OF VIOLATION
(NRC Investigation Report No. 1-96-013)
(IA 96-067)

Document Control Desk,

| am responding to a "Notice of violation" according to 10 CFR 2 201,

1. [, Michael Muszynski, claim that on November 29, 1995, | did not violate any NRC
Regulations which includes 10 CFR 30.9 or 10 CFR 35.50. | firmly resolve that the
“Dose Calibrator Constancy Check" in question, was performed accurately by myself on
that date.
| cannot explain why my readings were 5% lcwer than expected other that the "Dose
Calibrator” may have been calibrated on a different date than indicated or the possibility
of a "Dose Calibrator” malfunction.

-4 As a long time Nuclear Professional, | have consistantly complied with all NRC
regulations which were given to me by the Hospital's R.S.0O.
If | continue in the Nuclear Medicine profession, as in the past, | will continue to comply
with all required NRC regulations.

3 Steps that will be taken to prevent any violations will be that | keep myself abreast of all
NRC regulations in regards to the Nuclear Medicine profession. This incident has
brought te light that pertinent NRC regulations were not always provided to me by the
RSO

4 Full compliane of NRC requirements and regulations have always been achieved by
myself. | feel if reviews were made of my previous status regarding compliance,
findings would indicate exemplary achievements in my Record Keeping,
Documentation and past NRC Inspections results.
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Michael Muszyhski
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